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            Prologue

            San Francisco,

California

         

         May 19, 2015


New England Patriots owner Robert Kraft strode to the podium dressed smartly in a blue suit, blue dress shirt with contrasting white collar, and a red tie. It was a look fans had become accustomed to. In fact, Kraft had worn the attire for his nearly two decades sitting in the owner’s box at Gillette Stadium and other modern-day coliseums while watching his team evolve into the greatest sports dynasty of the twenty-first century.

         On May 19, 2015, Kraft had joined his fellow NFL owners at the San Francisco Ritz-Carlton for their spring meetings to discuss, among other things, the league’s potential return to Los Angeles for the first time in twenty-one years. The owners—nineteen billionaires, including Kraft—sat through updates on competing stadium proposals, and while this topic was of interest to sports reporters in L.A., San Diego, and even St. Louis, the real focus of attention centered on the eroding relationship between Robert Kraft and Roger Goodell, commissioner of the National Football League. Ever since the league had accused New England of deliberately deflating footballs during the AFC championship game against the Indianapolis Colts, the two men had been locked in a bitter battle over the future of Patriots quarterback Tom Brady.

         When Kraft arrived in the city two days earlier, the normally affable owner politely stiff-armed Boston reporters who were seeking any new nugget of information about the feud. The next day, he went on the record with Sports Illustrated columnist Pete King, calling the league’s treatment of Brady unfounded and unfair. When asked whether he’d sue the league in an effort to save his quarterback’s reputation, Kraft wouldn’t confirm or deny taking such drastic action. The media prepared for a thermonuclear showdown between two of the most powerful men in the most popular sport in America.

         But on the morning of May 19, ESPN reporter and respected league insider Adam Schefter turned the doomsday narrative on its head in a tweet that read, Roger Goodell and Patriots owner Robert Kraft already have met, spoke and even hugged, per an industry source who witnessed it. The headline was re-tweeted 738 times along with comments comparing their embrace to Michael Corleone’s kiss of death planted on the lips of his traitor brother Fredo in The Godfather Part II. Was this Kraft’s strategy? To keep his friends close but his enemies closer?

         Moments later, Schefter added that the two perceived enemies had attended a sixtieth-birthday party for Sean McManus, chairman of CBS Sports, in New York City that past weekend and that Kraft and Goodell were “spotted on a couch, talking by themselves for quite a long time.”

         Schefter’s tweets immediately transformed the lobby of the Ritz into a land of confusion as veteran reporters scratched their heads and texted their editors about this potential thaw in the NFL’s most recent cold war.

         A few hours later, their suspicions were confirmed when Kraft walked out to face a media ravenous for information. The owner shifted his feet and stared down at his prepared comments. He began the news conference by acknowledging the emotionally charged statements made in recent weeks by both Patriots fans and those who openly called for the proud franchise’s painful demise. Kraft then complained about the “ongoing rhetoric that continues to galvanize both camps.” It appeared as if the NFL had been split up into blue and red states, with partisans on both sides holding their ground and their grudges.

         “I have two options,” Kraft said about his war against the NFL. “I can either end it or extend it.”

         The Patriots owner paused before describing the goose bumps he felt being welcomed into “the room” by other owners after purchasing the team. Kraft expressed his allegiance to his fellow owners and their ultra-exclusive club he called the “full thirty-two.”

         “So in that spirit, I don’t want to continue the rhetoric that’s gone on for the last four months,” he told reporters. “I’m going to accept, reluctantly, what he [Goodell] has given us, and not to continue this dialogue and rhetoric, and we won’t appeal.”

         Kraft’s star quarterback Tom Brady watched the news conference along with millions of others on television. He was devastated and angry. Brady grabbed his cell phone and punched in the contact number for DeMaurice Smith, executive director of the National Football League Players Association.

         “What the fuck?” Brady shouted over the phone. “Why am I not getting the support I deserve on this thing?”

         Smith tried to console his client and friend.

         “No matter what Kraft says, it has no bearing on our appeal of the four-game suspension,” he told Brady. “We’ll be ready for that. Trust me.”1

         In a moment, the man hailed as arguably the greatest quarterback ever to play the game had to put his faith in another team, one of battle-tested attorneys in a war against, perhaps, the most formidable opponent of his life: the NFL.
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            Chapter One

            A Cold Rain

         

         January 18, 2015


Indianapolis sports columnist Bob Kravitz squinted wearily through the frames of his prescription eyeglasses and ran his fingers through the gray whiskers that covered his chin. Something’s weird, he thought to himself.2 It had indeed been a strange game for fans of the Indianapolis Colts to watch thus far. On the drenched Gillette Stadium turf, the Colts, playing behind third-year quarterback Andrew Luck, were committing countless mistakes, and their opponent, the New England Patriots, had made them pay dearly. Early on, Colts punt returner Josh Cribbs mishandled a kick that hit him flush on his face mask before the football tumbled to the field, where it was scooped up and recovered by Patriots linebacker Darius Fleming.

         New England’s offense then took over. It was the second possession of the game for Patriots quarterback Tom Brady, and he fed the ball to running back LeGarrette Blount, who chewed up yard after yard before stampeding into the end zone for the first score of the AFC championship game. Seemingly unimpressed with his team’s fast start, head coach Bill Belichick brooded on the sideline, his trademark navy blue hoodie surprisingly dry considering the weather.

         That night, the temperature hovered just above freezing, bringing with it dense fog and a cold rain, instead of the light snow that had fallen in Foxborough, Massachusetts, during previous midwinter matchups between these storied rivals. But much had changed within the Colts organization since those epic and unforgettable snow bowls. Gone was legendary quarterback Peyton Manning, the proverbial face of the franchise and poster boy for the scorn of Patriots fans from Caribou, Maine, to Cumberland, Rhode Island. Manning had been vanquished and replaced by the first pick in the 2012 NFL draft, Andrew Luck, who had since broken Manning’s franchise record for passing yards in a single season and had most recently beaten the Manning-led Denver Broncos in the divisional round of the playoffs. The outward identity of the Colts had also changed. They were no longer considered, as the Patriots were, perennial conference favorites destined to wreak havoc throughout the AFC. The Colts were now playing the role of the underdog behind a talented and modestly likable quarterback. Without Peyton Manning behind center, most Patriots fans no longer recoiled at the mere sight of the horseshoe-bedecked helmets. The intensity and excitement over the rivalry had waned in New England. But that sentiment was not shared by those toiling inside the Indiana Farm Bureau Football Center, the Indianapolis headquarters of the Colts.

         The team had been taught to despise the Patriots. This was a deeper hatred than is normally found among business competitors. This was loathing on the level of rival nation-states with opposing ideologies. Colts owner Jim Irsay, the silver-haired, goateed man-child who had inherited the team from his father, Robert, viewed the Patriots the way Ronald Reagan once regarded the Soviet Union: they simply were not to be trusted. Irsay himself, however, had his own problems. In 2014, he had been arrested for drunk driving and felony drug possession, which probably didn’t ease his decade-old grudge against the Patriots. The bad blood went all the way back to a regular-season showdown in 2003, when the Colts accused Patriots linebacker Willie McGinest of faking an injury during a critical fourth-quarter play to stop the clock, the Patriots eventually going on to pull out the victory in typical Tom Brady fashion. Irsay’s suspicions about the deceptive culture of the Patriots, however, were proven correct in 2007, when Coach Belichick was caught videotaping play calls and signals of opposing coaches in a scandal that would come to be known as Spygate.

         Bob Kravitz looked at the scoreboard late in the second quarter of the AFC championship game and saw that the Colts were down ten points to the Patriots. The score was 17–7, but the game did not appear that competitive. New England had complete control over Indianapolis, the Colts weren’t exactly playing perfect football, and no sports reporter, let alone Kravitz, had any reason to believe that the Patriots were practicing any illegal sleight of hand. But as the halftime whistle blew, Kravitz noticed Colts general manager Ryan Grigson leave his seat in the press box, walk over to the team’s designated PR spot, and reach for the phone. Grigson began talking excitedly to someone on the other end of the line. Kravitz, however, could not imagine what the conversation was about. The columnist simply rubbed his chin and thought the exchange was, in his words, “weird.”

         Kravitz watched the Patriots increase their dominance over the Colts in the second half. Through a driving rain, Tom Brady drove the offense down the field early in the third quarter and lobbed a pass to hulking left tackle Nate Solder, who steamrolled into the end zone, where he was flanked by the other beefy offensive linemen in raucous celebration. As sometimes seems to be the case for Brady, the game was proving to be easy.

         Less than seven minutes later, he struck again, this time it was a touchdown pass to his all-world tight end Rob Gronkowski. With the extra point, the score was now 31–7. Coach Belichick and Patriots offensive coordinator Josh McDaniels could have taken their foot off the gas pedal at this point, but it wasn’t their style. As the New England defense and its mercenary leader, cornerback Darrelle Revis, continued to confuse Andrew Luck and keep the Colts out of the end zone, the Patriots offense kept hammering Indianapolis through the air and on the ground. LeGarrette Blount added two more touchdowns in the rout. The final score was 45–7, and with the win, the Patriots secured their sixth trip to the Super Bowl under Coach Belichick. Tom Brady completed twenty-three of thirty-five passes for a total of 226 yards, while Luck finished with just twelve completions and two interceptions. Soon the rain in Foxborough gave way to a shower of red, white, and blue confetti as players donned championship baseball caps and shirts, dancing in jubilation while the Lamar Hunt Trophy was handed to team owner Robert Kraft.

         “You did your job,” Kraft told the sold-out crowd. “Now we must go to Arizona and do our job.”

         CBS sports anchor Jim Nantz then pulled in a grinning Bill Belichick, who once again echoed that season’s memorable mantra. “I only have one thing to say. We’re on to Seattle!”

         Finally, the microphone was presented to Brady, the one man every fan was waiting to hear from. Nantz reminded Brady and the frenzied crowd that he would be setting a new record, becoming the first quarterback to play in six Super Bowls. Number 12, wearing glare-deflective eye black, his wet hair matted, did his best to deflect attention from his personal accomplishment and praised his fellow players.

         “My teammates…I couldn’t be more proud of them,” he said. “We put a lot of work in this year, worked our tails off to get to this point…we’ve got one more to go.”

         Hoisting the Hunt Trophy and flashing the smile that had graced the cover of countless major sports and lifestyle magazines in America, Brady then addressed the fans. “I know we’ve had some ups and downs this year, but right now we’re up, baby, and we’re gonna try to stay up for one more game.”

         The Patriots had approached each game that season with a similar mentality. After suffering a humiliating defeat to the Kansas City Chiefs in week four, a loss that had both team beat writers and chest-beating fans finally questioning whether the team and its legendary quarterback were now approaching a steady decline, Bill Belichick had refused to take the bait. When asked about the performance of his thirty-seven-year-old quarterback during a press conference after the game, the coach quickly cut off the reporter. “We’re on to Cincinnati,” Belichick barked. “It’s not about the past. It’s not about the future. We’re preparing for Cincinnati.” The team bounced back against the Bengals the following week and soon regained control of the conference before marching through the playoffs. In other words, there would be no more talk about the Colts after this night. The team’s sole focus would turn to the Seattle Seahawks, the defending NFL champions. The players would be allowed to celebrate for a few more hours before placing the victory in their rearview mirror.

         Meanwhile, Patriots fans wanted to savor this victory longer, as for them it was yet another coronation for the most dominant sports team of the twenty-first century. For Colts fans, of course, it was a car crash, and Bob Kravitz had witnessed the fiery wreck close enough to smell the burning rubber. This was more than a playoff loss. It was the worst defeat for the Colts against the Patriots in a big-game situation. There were no silver linings to write about for next season. Even with a star quarterback like Andrew Luck, the Colts were simply not in the Patriots’ class, and as long as Tom Brady remained on the field, the outlook would not change.

         Kravitz made his way to the losing locker room and the Colts’ postgame press conference, where he spotted the team’s brain trust—owner Jim Irsay, head coach Chuck Pagano, and general manager Ryan Grigson—huddled in a corner in a heated powwow. The columnist figured that the owner was demanding heads roll after such an embarrassing defeat. It was understandable, Kravitz thought, and over the next couple of hours he stuck to his script and conducted player interviews that would make up his Monday-morning hit piece. It was late in the evening when he returned to the press box to fetch his laptop and cell phone. After packing away his computer, he reached for his phone and noticed that he’d received a message from someone in the NFL league office. The text read, Something you need to know. Give me a call.

         Kravitz waited until he got to the parking lot at Gillette Stadium and then got out his phone.

         “The Patriots are being investigated by the league for deflating footballs,” the source told him.

         “Get the fuck outta here,” Kravitz responded incredulously. “I don’t believe it.”

         “Believe it,” the source told him.

         “I can’t run with the story unless I get confirmation.”

         “Then I suggest you do.”

         Kravitz hung up and began texting and tweeting other league sources and soon got ahold of another trusted NFL insider.

         “Is it true the Patriots are being investigated for deflating footballs in the AFC championship?” he asked.

         “If you write it, you won’t be wrong,” the insider replied.

         Kravitz’s mind was now racing. He still had to get back to his hotel room in nearby Smithfield, Rhode Island, to finish his column about the Colts’ blowout loss. But the game itself seemed like an afterthought to him now. He had been given the opportunity to break a major story, and it couldn’t wait for the morning news cycle. The columnist decided to report the allegations in a tweet. He began to type—Breaking: A league source tells me the NFL is investigating the possibility the Patriots deflated footballs Sunday night. More to come.

         He showed his phone screen to his boss, WTHR Indianapolis sports director Dave Calabro.

         “You know this is gonna raise holy hell,” Calabro warned.

         Kravitz nodded. He had begun to sweat in the cold New England night. Taking a deep breath, he pressed his thick index finger on the send button. The time was 1:55 a.m.

         “Here goes nothing. Let’s go break the Internet.”

      

   


   
      
         
            Chapter Two

            Storm Fronts

         

         Bob Kravitz placed his head on a pillow and stared at the ceiling of his small hotel room. He closed his eyes but sleep would not come. He’d been a sports reporter and columnist for thirty-five years, and he describes his knowledge of the inner workings of the NFL as “a mile wide and an inch deep. Just enough to be dangerous.”3

         His social media post was potentially the most dangerous dispatch of his career. He lay awake wondering if he would even have a career in the morning.

         There’s a chance you could be wrong, Kravitz told himself. Your balls are now on the line.

         Unlike Kravitz, Tom Brady slept soundly that Sunday night. After the game, he had returned home to his supermodel wife, Gisele Bündchen, and his mansion in Brookline, a tony Boston suburb, where team owner Robert Kraft also resided. Brady’s body felt strong and healthy. He hadn’t been punished by the Colts defense as he had been the previous week during an epic and physically draining come-from-behind win against the rugged Baltimore Ravens at Gillette Stadium. In that game, Ravens defenders repeatedly broke through the barrier reef formed by Brady’s offensive line to agitate the quarterback with angry shoves and violent pro wrestling–style hits.

         While the aging legend struggled early, opposing Ravens quarterback Joe Flacco was going for the kill. Flacco had been a mystery to Patriots coaches, players, and fans throughout his career. He had never been intimidated by the aura of Bill Belichick and was immune to the three championship banners hanging from the rafters above the south end zone inside Gillette Stadium. Historically, Flacco performed well in New England, especially in the playoffs. He’d thrown five touchdowns and passed for more than five hundred yards over their past three showdowns and had two big wins over Brady and the Patriots to show for it. The six-foot-six signal caller had also thrown thirteen touchdowns with zero interceptions over his last five playoff appearances. The 2015 divisional playoff game appeared to be following Flacco’s script. In the first quarter, he threw a nineteen-yard touchdown strike to wide receiver Kamar Aiken, himself a former Patriot, and then followed it up with a nine-yard score to respected veteran Steve Smith Sr., who caught cornerback Darrelle Revis on the inside for an easy touchdown.

         The rambunctious hometown crowd grew quiet and waited to see how Brady and the Patriots would respond. It was now time to release the kraken. Patriots offensive coordinator Josh McDaniels summoned the pass-catching beast known as Rob Gronkowski and called his number 87 for two big pass plays, one for sixteen yards and another for a whopping forty yards down the left seam on the edge of the Ravens’ coverage. Brady capped the drive with a scrambling run into the end zone. The Patriots were alive again and would soon tie the score, when Brady found slot receiver Danny Amendola, who pulled in a short pass and leaped for a touchdown. But Flacco and the Ravens soon countered with two more scores, and the pendulum continued to swing drastically back and forth as the two quarterbacks battled like prizefighters. Down 28 to 14, Brady brought his team back with a touchdown to Gronkowski. Then slot receiver Julian Edelman, Brady’s favorite target, found a target of his own. Josh McDaniels called a trick play, allowing Edelman, a former Kent State University quarterback, an opportunity for highlight-reel glory. The receiver took a pass from Brady behind the line of scrimmage and then paid it forward with a perfect spiral down the sideline to Amendola, a similarly built receiver twin, for a fifty-one-yard touchdown. There was jubilation in Foxborough.

         A Baltimore field goal put the Ravens back in the lead, but once again, Brady charged back with his third touchdown pass of the game to veteran wide receiver Brandon LaFell. The strike was history in the making as it placed Brady in front of his boyhood idol, San Francisco 49ers legend Joe Montana, and Packers great Brett Favre, as the quarterback with the most postseason touchdowns—forty-six.

         On this night, however, records meant little to Brady. The game was still tight, and the Patriots were holding on to a precarious four-point lead. The ball was now back in Joe Flacco’s hands, and the Ravens quarterback showed why he’d earned the nickname “Joe Cool,” which had been Montana’s moniker a generation ago. He completed a critical fourth-down pass as the clock approached the two-minute warning. But a field goal would do Baltimore no good. The Ravens had to score a touchdown. Two plays later, Flacco heaved the ball to Steve Smith Sr., who was flanked by two Patriots defensive backs near the end zone. Safety Duron Harmon turned toward the play at the optimum moment and made a game-saving interception. Flacco would get one more shot, but a Hail Mary pass came up short and the Patriots were headed to the AFC championship game, where they would go on to trounce the Colts.

         The Ravens, on the other hand, were headed home to Baltimore. They were beaten and angry. Before hopping on the team charter, head coach John Harbaugh addressed the media in a news conference at Gillette Stadium. Harbaugh was outraged that the Patriots had used an unorthodox blocking scheme during the game on a critical third-quarter drive where only four offensive linemen took position at the line of scrimmage. The team still needed a fifth player on the line, so running back Shane Vereen checked into the game as an ineligible receiver and rarely used tight end Michael Hoomanawanui moved over to the left tackle position. The chess move left Harbaugh and Ravens defensive coordinator Dean Pees no time to adjust and figure out who the eligible and ineligible receivers were. As the ball was snapped to Brady, Hoomanawanui raced upfield unchallenged and hauled in the pass. The tight end–turned–left tackle had open room and ran for several more yards before getting pulled down deep in Ravens territory. As the Patriots walked back to the huddle, a bewildered Harbaugh had no idea what he’d just witnessed and marched onto the field to cry foul. The coach drew a penalty for screaming at the officials and was forced to bite his lower lip until the postgame, when he took the podium and blasted the Patriots to reporters.

         “We wanted the opportunity to ID who the eligible receivers were,” Harbaugh said. “They [the Patriots] would announce the eligible player and then time was taken [off the game clock] and they would snap the ball before we had a chance to figure out who was lined up where, and that was the deception part of it. And that’s where it was clearly deception.…Nobody’s ever seen that before.”

         When a reporter asked the coach whether he thought the play was cheap or dirty, Harbaugh responded with a terse no comment. The Ravens coach had just chummed the water with raw meat, and the sharks smelled blood. For the NFL beat writers, it was an easy and tantalizing story to write. The Patriots were being accused of deception once again. For the legion of football fans across the nation who despised Brady, Belichick, and company, it offered the opportunity to resurrect the Spygate scandal in barroom and online conversations.

         For Harbaugh’s part, his tacit insistence that the Patriots were playing dirty or cheap could have been interpreted as a cheap shot against the organization. The Ravens coach claimed no one had ever seen a play like that before, when in reality the University of Alabama had run a similar play back in November 2014 in an overtime win against the Louisiana State University Tigers. Harbaugh noted that Bill Vinovich, the referee for the Patriots–Ravens game, had also made clear announcements in the stadium that certain Patriots receivers were ineligible, in essence telling the Ravens’ defenders they didn’t need to cover them.

         When John Harbaugh’s comments reached the ears of Tom Brady, the quarterback shot right back during his own postgame press conference.

         “Maybe those guys [the Ravens] gotta study the rule book and figure it out. We obviously knew what we were doing and we made some pretty important plays. It was a real good weapon for us. Maybe we’ll have something in store next week. I don’t know what’s deceiving about that. They [the Ravens] should figure it out.”

         The NFL backed up Brady’s statement, ruling that nothing was illegal about the play in question, but the quarterback’s counterpunch did not sit well with Harbaugh and other members of the Ravens organization, and the repercussions would be gigantic.

         Number 12 later attempted to defuse the situation by saying he had a lot of respect for John Harbaugh as a coach, but the damage was already done and Baltimore plotted its revenge.

         In the days leading up to the AFC championship, Ravens assistant head coach and special teams coordinator Jerry Rosburg placed a phone call to his friend Colts head coach Chuck Pagano. Pagano had close ties to the Baltimore organization, having served as the team’s defensive coordinator in 2011. Rosburg informed his former colleague of something rotten in the state of Denmark. The special teams coach believed that within the palace walls of Gillette Stadium there lurked corruption and deceit on a scale that would have inspired William Shakespeare. Rosburg explained that the Ravens had experienced serious issues when they were in kicking or punt situations during their game with the Patriots. Each time, before they lined up a kick, the Ravens were handed new footballs instead of the balls Rosburg and his team had prepared themselves.

         “Be careful,” he warned Pagano.

         That conversation was then relayed to Colts equipment manager Sean Sullivan, who pushed it up the chain of command to general manager Ryan Grigson. Sullivan surmised that the problems with the footballs went far beyond the kicking game.

         “As far as the game balls are concerned, it is well known around the league that after the Patriots game balls are checked by officials and brought out for game usage by the ball boys, the Patriots will let out some air with a ball needle because their quarterback likes a smaller football so he can grip it better,” Sullivan wrote in an e-mail. “It would be great if someone would check the air in the game ball as the game goes on so that they don’t get an illegal advantage.”

         As the Colts’ coaches prepared their game plan for New England, the Indianapolis front office hatched a plan of its own for the AFC championship.

         Tom Brady, of course, was oblivious to the cloak-and-dagger operation. He had routed the Colts in one of the most decisive playoff wins of his storied career. After that game, Brady made sure he did not get lured into another controversy and was at his controlled best during the postgame press conference, praising both the Colts and the Patriots’ opponent in the upcoming Super Bowl, the Seattle Seahawks.

         
             

         

         On Monday morning, January 19, 2015, while the football universe was reacting to Bob Kravitz’s tweet, Brady was still unaware of the allegations that broke in the predawn hours. The quarterback called into the Boston sports radio station WEEI for his weekly interview on the Dennis & Callahan Show. As with his previous on-air conversations on the program, Brady expected to discuss candidly the key plays from the previous night’s game, endure some good-natured ribbing from the hosts, and possibly get lured into reliving his two most recent Super Bowl appearances, both ending in crushing losses to the New York Giants. Instead, he was confronted by cohost Kirk Minihane, the show’s resident instigator, about the veracity of the Kravitz tweet. But at this point, even the sports radio jocks were skeptical.

         “We didn’t really give any weight to the story at the time,” Minihane recalls. “Our producer, Chris Curtis, had the Kravitz nugget laid out for us when we arrived at the studio around 5:30 a.m., along with every other news item about the game. We knew that Kravitz was a shit-stirrer and Patriots hater so we just decided to ask Brady the question as a throwaway line, as a punch line.”4

         The interview had approached the nine-minute mark before Minihane asked Brady if he had heard about the Kravitz story. The quarterback said he hadn’t heard about or read the story.

         “Did you have a sense that you had a better grip on the ball than the Colts?” Minihane pressed.

         Brady let out a nervous laugh. “I think I’ve heard everything at this point.”

         Following that interview the quarterback received a text from team equipment assistant John Jastremski. Call me when you get a second, the message read. It was his job to oversee Brady’s footballs, and while the two men had a congenial relationship, it was the first time they had corresponded by text or a phone call in six months. Jastremski was a Massachusetts native and lifelong Patriots fan who grew up in the small town of Hopedale, located in the heart of the Blackstone Valley, midway between Worcester, the state’s second largest city, and Foxborough. He’d played basketball in high school and had an affinity for computers, and, like many kids raised in New England, Jastremski bled Patriots red, white, and blue. He landed a job as a Patriots ball boy in 1994, the year coach Bill Parcells and the organization’s top draft choice, quarterback Drew Bledsoe, joined the team during Robert Kraft’s first year of ownership. Together, the three men resurrected the moribund franchise, and young Jastremski had been given a front-row seat to the dramatic turnaround. But what happened after the Parcells-Bledsoe era was more than any diehard Boston sports fan could wish for. Jastremski graduated Bryant University with a degree in computer information systems but kept his job with the Patriots, where he had celebrated three Super Bowl wins while forging a bond with a quarterback many were already calling “the greatest of all time.”

         Jastremski lived quietly in a condo a few miles away from Foxborough but spent most of his time within the confines of Gillette Stadium, working in the equipment room adjacent to the locker room, where players were always stopping by to pillage and plunder whatever they needed before practices and home games. Like other equipment assistants, Jastremski handed out player jerseys, adjusted helmets, and distributed the proper cleats to satisfy any change in field and game-day conditions. But over the past three seasons, his role had been elevated to “game ball maker.” The designation allowed him to work directly with Brady in preparing game-day footballs. Each NFL team received nearly eight hundred footballs per season, and Jastremski treated each one like a coveted bejeweled Fabergé egg.

         Less than a minute after Brady received the text from Jastremski, he placed the requested call to his “game ball maker,” who answered immediately after seeing the contact TomBrady2 appear on his cell phone screen.5 Their discussion lasted thirteen minutes and four seconds. Jastremski would later claim that the tone of the conversation was lighthearted and that he was “semi-busting Brady’s chops.” The ball handler hadn’t heard the WEEI radio interview but had been alerted to its content by his girlfriend. Jastremski was obviously curious about the details of the allegations, since he was responsible for “making” Brady’s footballs and it would be his neck on the chopping block if something went wrong.

         The two men discussed what they had learned of the morning’s media coverage. After Bob Kravitz’s initial tweet, the NBC Pro Sports Talk website had posted a related story at 2:19 a.m. Newsday ran a story almost two hours later with National Football League spokesperson Michael Signora confirming that the league was “looking into the matter.” Signora also stressed that there was no timetable on the investigation and that NFL rules prohibit teams from underinflating footballs during games. There was no indication from either Jastremski or Brady that this initial phone call included discussion of what seemed to be the elephant in the room at that time—the fact that Jastremski’s coworker Jim McNally, the New England Patriots’ official locker room attendant, had been questioned about the team’s footballs by two members of NFL security immediately after the Colts game. Jastremski knew this because McNally had called him at 12:15 a.m. during his ninety-minute drive from the stadium to his home in New Hampshire.

         Jastremski could only imagine what McNally would say under the scrutiny of NFL security. During the initial questioning following the AFC championship, McNally told league security representatives that he had walked the footballs (thirteen game balls stuffed into a sack) onto the field at Gillette Stadium without an escort before the game. Oftentimes, he would be joined on such a walk by game officials or Richard Farley, the NFL security representative for the Patriots.

         “Nothing unusual happened during the walk from the locker room to the field,” McNally insisted during the interview.

         What McNally failed to mention was the fact that he had taken the game balls with him into a bathroom before continuing on to the field.

         NFL director of investigations John Raucci, a twenty-five-year veteran of the FBI, had asked McNally to make himself available for a follow-up interview the next day. At first, the locker room attendant said that he would not be available for such a conversation because he had another full-time job and would not return to Gillette Stadium until August 2015 for the Patriots’ first preseason game. Unbowed by this apparent evasion, Raucci stressed the importance of the follow-up interview, and McNally acquiesced. The two men scheduled to speak again on the evening of January 19.

         Later, when asked to describe the purpose of their early-morning phone call, McNally and Jastremski both claimed that it was merely a congratulatory conversation about the team’s big win but conceded that some of the talk did focus on the subject of the inflation level of the footballs.

         
              

         

         The anxiety increased for Bob Kravitz as he made his way to the airport on the morning of January 19. Although he trusted his NFL sources, he also feared that he was being used as a pawn. As far as he was concerned, his was the only name attached to the story thus far, and those who had served up the narrative would remain hidden in the background, unidentified and protected by the rules of journalism. “What if I’m wrong?” he muttered to himself. Kravitz checked in on the Twitter universe and noticed the Newsday piece and began to breathe a little easier. Hours later, after he had returned to Indianapolis, the columnist let out a loud war whoop when ESPN reporter Chris Mortensen, one of the most respected media members covering the National Football League, fired off a tweet of his own—NFL has reported that 11 of the Patriots footballs used in Sunday’s AFC title game were under-inflated by 2 lbs each, per league sources.

      

   


   
      
         
            Chapter Three

            Pressure

         

         As the morning wore on, Brady continued his text conversation with Jastremski. The quarterback appeared to be gauging how well his “ball maker” was handling the pressure.

         You good Jonny Boy? Brady asked.

         Still nervous. So far so good though. I’ll be alright, Jastremski typed in response.

         You didn’t do anything wrong bud, the quarterback insisted.

         I know, I’ll be all good, the ball maker replied.

         Jastremski told Brady that Dave Schoenfeld, the team’s head equipment manager, would be “picking his brain” about the situation later.

         No worries bud. We are all good, Brady replied.

         Jastremski handed over his cell phone to the Patriots security team later that day for forensic analysis.

         Meanwhile, Tom Brady was attempting to smother the controversy in its cradle. To him, and most other quarterbacks, ball pressure came down to personal preference and was not something that could alter the course of a game, whether footballs were inflated or deflated on purpose or as the result of game-time weather conditions. Brady’s friend and 2014 season MVP Aaron Rodgers, quarterback for the Green Bay Packers, would later admit that he liked his footballs to be overinflated. “I like to push the limit to how much air we can put into the football, even go over what they allow you to do to see if the officials take air out of it,” Rodgers told Phil Simms, a former star NFL quarterback, Super Bowl winner for the New York Giants, and broadcaster for CBS Sports.6 Brad Johnson, who also got a championship ring when he quarterbacked the Tampa Bay Buccaneers to a Super Bowl victory in 2003, said that he paid his equipment guys seventy-five hundred dollars to alter footballs before the AFC championship game against the Oakland Raiders. “I paid some guys to get the balls right,” Johnson later told Tampa Bay Times reporter Rick Stroud. “I went and got all 100 [Super Bowl game balls] and they [equipment personnel] took care of all of them.”7

         Among the fraternity of NFL quarterbacks, ball manipulation was a commonplace, accepted bending of the rules.

         But league officials did not see it that way, at least now, and the sharks were circling amid the hype machine over Super Bowl XLIX. On the afternoon of January 19, 2015, the head coaches of both the Patriots and the Seattle Seahawks were committed by the league to participate in a conference call with the media. Bill Belichick was historically notorious for his strategic refusal to offer reporters anything of substance during these exchanges. He could make the most exciting game seem as boring and painful as a visit to the dentist. Normally, only the most wonkish football fans paid close attention to the coach’s comments.

         But reporters were not interested in discussing X’s and O’s with the Patriots coach. By midmorning, news that the league was now investigating the Patriots over allegations of deflated footballs had grown from a small brushfire into a full conflagration. Now, news outlets such as CBS Sports, National Public Radio, and even the Huffington Post had latched onto the story.

         “What’s your response to the report on deflated footballs?” one reporter asked on the call.

         “We’ll cooperate fully in whatever the league wants us to,” Belichick responded in his often imitated, grumbling monotone. “Whatever questions they ask us, whatever they want us to do.”

         The coach told reporters that he had no idea there were any concerns over the footballs during the game and that he had only heard about the potential issue that morning. However, given his reputation for control and for paying attention to each minute detail of the goings-on at Gillette Stadium, it seems unlikely that Jim McNally’s interrogation by NFL security would have escaped Belichick’s attention when it happened.

         The media continued to pressure the coach. “What do you think of the topic and if that could potentially be an advantage for a team?”

         “You’re asking the questions, I’m just trying to answer them,” he replied.

         “Were the Patriots using deflated footballs?” one reporter asked pointedly.

         “I just said the first I heard about it was this morning,” Belichick fired back. “Whatever they need from the league, that’s what we’ll do.”8

         It was the last thing Bill Belichick wanted to be dealing with at the moment. He and his assistants had a Herculean task in front of them in developing a game plan against the reigning Super Bowl champions, and any talk about the inflation or deflation of footballs would divert attention away from this challenge. The coach repeated the season’s rallying cry—Do your job— to the members of his staff and his players and attempted, at least initially, to block out the distraction and the tempest brewing outside Gillette Stadium. That day, David Gardi, senior vice president of football operations for the NFL, sent a letter via e-mail to Belichick, Patriots owner Robert Kraft, his son Jonathan Kraft, and league commissioner Roger Goodell, stating in part that an initial investigation had found that none of the Patriots’ game balls in the AFC championship were inflated to the league-required 12.5 psi (pounds per square inch). In the letter, Gardi stated that the footballs “may have been tampered with after the normal inspection procedures were followed prior to kickoff.”9

         
              

         

         Fifty-five-year-old Roger Stokoe Goodell had been running the most popular and lucrative league in all of professional sports for more than a decade. The ginger-haired NFL commissioner was the son of a United States senator appointed by New York governor Nelson Rockefeller following the 1968 assassination of New York senator and presidential candidate Robert F. Kennedy. It was the only time in his life that Charles Goodell had been handed something he had not earned, something he had not fought for. The elder Goodell came from modest beginnings in western New York. He was a star athlete at Jamestown High School and played both baseball and football at Williams College, in Massachusetts. Known as “Charlie” to his friends, Goodell always kept a dictionary by his side, reading it incessantly to increase his vocabulary. He joined the U.S. Navy in the mid-1940s, attended and graduated from Yale Law School and the university’s graduate school of government, and later enlisted in the U.S. Air Force as a first lieutenant during the Korean War.

         Charles Goodell got bitten by the political bug early. After a brief stint as a law professor at Quinnipiac College, just down the road from Yale, he went into practice briefly for himself before heading to Washington, D.C., for a job with the United States Justice Department. A few years later, Goodell made his first run for public office in a special election to fill a New York congressional seat vacated by the death of Daniel Reed, a long-serving Republican and former head football coach at Penn State and Cornell. Charles Goodell won the special election in 1959, when Roger, his third son, was just three months old. The elder Goodell took in nearly double the votes of his opponent. He was reelected three times and emerged as one of the party’s “young thinkers” at a time when House Democrats outnumbered Republicans two to one. He had voted against the “Great Society” bill, which outlined President Lyndon B. Johnson’s so-called War on Poverty. Goodell submitted his own version but it went nowhere. As a Republican, he found himself in a perpetual minority, relegated to the sidelines of major policy issues along with his good friend and fellow Republican Donald Rumsfeld, a congressman from Illinois and future secretary of defense under President George W. Bush.

         Charles Goodell’s political future drew fresh breaths when Bobby Kennedy succumbed to bullet wounds fired by assassin Sirhan Sirhan in the kitchen of the Ambassador Hotel in Los Angeles. Governor Rockefeller needed to fill Kennedy’s seat with a fellow Republican who would not be seen as repugnant to RFK’s legion of supporters. As the nation mourned, the crafty New York congressman sent Rockefeller a secret letter that outlined the similarities he shared with the late Kennedy. Goodell was appointed to Kennedy’s seat three months after his death.

         But even with fair warning, Nelson Rockefeller could not imagine the sea change that would come through Goodell’s political metamorphosis. Charles Goodell became a progressive. James Buckley, brother of noted conservative William F. Buckley and a staunch critic and rival of Goodell’s, called him a “Republican whose level of liberalism approached the indecent” and said that he was making a career for himself by embarrassing the administration.10 Goodell marched with Coretta Scott King, wife of slain civil rights leader the Reverend Martin Luther King Jr., was endorsed by the likes of liberal political activist Noam Chomsky, and even took on the leader of his own party—President Richard Nixon—voting against two of Nixon’s nominations to the United States Supreme Court.

         Then, in September 1969, Senator Goodell introduced a bill that would require all American troops out of Vietnam by December 1, 1970. He gave Henry Kissinger, Nixon’s national security adviser, a heads-up about his plan during a phone call that was secretly recorded. Goodell then placed a similar call to Nixon’s secretary of defense Melvin Laird. Despite being an early advocate for the war in Vietnam, Goodell now felt that the United States should not be engaged in a land war 10,000 miles away. Overall support for the war had dropped precipitously after the Tet Offensive in 1968, when news crews captured the intensity of battle between American soldiers and the Viet Cong. In reality, the fight resulted in an overwhelming victory by U.S. forces, but the tenacity shown by North Vietnamese troops caused influential Americans, most notably CBS news anchor Walter Cronkite, to question whether a successful resolution to the war was achievable. Those doubts soon echoed across college campuses, and Senator Goodell listened to the cries of outrage with both ears. The war had changed him, and he would soon be labeled a traitor for taking a conscious stand against his party and against his president. Therefore, he had to be brought to heel or destroyed. As Charles Goodell fought hard to become a hero to young Americans, he was being vilified by the Nixon White House. GOP operatives called him “Changeable Charlie” and “Instant Liberal.” One fellow lawmaker compared Goodell’s political conversion from conservative to progressive to Saint Paul’s journey on the road to Damascus.11 President Nixon quietly offered Goodell a job in his administration if he would tone down the rhetoric. But Senator Goodell only spoke louder. He entertained antiwar activists like Jane Fonda and met with defense analyst Daniel Ellsberg to discuss strategy for leaking the explosive Pentagon Papers.

         Like an NFL coach whose goal is to isolate and take away the best player on the opposing team, Nixon and his aides focused their attention on Charles Goodell’s demise. Vice President Spiro Agnew became Nixon’s hired gun and verbal assassin. He told fellow Republicans that “Senator Goodell has left the party.” He compared Goodell to Christine Jorgensen, the first recipient of a sex-change operation. Those smears stuck. Charles Goodell lost his bid to win a full term, and his political career was over at the age of forty-four.

         His eleven-year-old son, Roger, cried on election night.

         The younger Goodell idolized his father. Yet Charles Goodell, despite his earnest connection with young people and those opposed to the war, remained aloof to the responsibilities of parenthood and distanced himself from Roger and his siblings. Charles Goodell moved his family to New York City, where he practiced law while his son Roger was given all the advantages and opportunities that his father had earned himself through hard work as a youth.

         Nevertheless, there was resentment from the father toward the son. Roger fought for Charles’s attention and love by excelling in the classroom and on the ball fields. He was a three-sport star athlete at Bronxville High School, where he captained the Broncos football team during his senior year in 1977. When his coach demanded that Goodell notify him if any teammates were drinking alcohol or experimenting with drugs, the 170-pound tight end did just that. Roger Goodell was willing to name names for the welfare of the team and also to endear himself to his coach. Injuries, including a concussion suffered during his senior year playing baseball, kept him from playing football in college, so after high school graduation, Roger attended Washington & Jefferson College, a small liberal arts institution spread across a leafy campus in Washington, Pennsylvania, some thirty miles south of Pittsburgh. The institution boasted its fair share of influential alumni, including a United States senator, treasury secretary, and attorney general. Washington & Jefferson provided students with the proper track toward a career in politics, but Goodell had no interest in following in his father’s footsteps to Capitol Hill. In 1981, after graduating magna cum laude with a degree in economics, Roger composed a letter to his father offering thanks for putting him through college. “The only thing I want to do in life, other than to be the commissioner of the NFL, is to make you proud,” he wrote.12 The letter wasn’t so much a pledge as a plea by a son for his father’s blessings.

         Goodell then wrote letters to all twenty-eight NFL teams, begging for an opportunity to prove his worth.

         He also penned a letter to league commissioner Pete Rozelle on July 2, 1981, that read,

         
            Dear Mr. Rozelle,

            I am writing you in reference to any job openings you may have at your offices. Having just finished my undergraduate education at Washington and Jefferson College this past May, I am presently looking for a position in the management of professional sports. Being an avid football fan, I have always desired a career in the NFL. Consequently, as a great admirer of you, it would be both an honor and a pleasure to work for you in any position that may be available.

         

         He signed the letter “Respectfully, Roger S. Goodell.”13

         Later he received a noncommittal reply from Rozelle’s office: “Stop by if you’re ever in the area,” the note read. Young Roger wasted no time. He immediately phoned the league office and said that he was close by and could drop in the next day. This was a lie. Goodell was seven hours away in Pittsburgh at the time. Still, he got in his car and drove to NFL headquarters the following day for an informational interview. Roger made a positive impression and was awarded an internship as an administrative assistant a few months later.

         Goodell, however, needed a mentor as much as he needed a job. Indeed, young Roger was searching for a father figure, and as luck would have it, the NFL was then being run by (Alvin) Pete Rozelle, a fifty-five-year-old former sports publicist and marketing genius who had grown the league from twelve teams to twenty-eight through a merger with the rival American Football League. Rozelle had also created the Super Bowl, professional sports’ biggest spectacle, and birthed the long-running Monday Night Football television franchise with Roone Arledge, head of ABC.

         Young Roger would learn a great deal from Rozelle, a true visionary. As commissioner, Rozelle introduced revenue sharing to the league, which allowed small-market teams like the vaunted Green Bay Packers to share equally in television revenues with big-market teams like the New York Jets and Giants, the Chicago Bears, and the Los Angeles Rams, thus creating a more level playing field than that of Major League Baseball, the NFL’s chief rival. Rozelle had also honed his managerial and leadership skills through his work as general manager for the Rams and as a marketing executive for the 1956 summer Olympics. The man could also be tough.

         Early in Rozelle’s tenure, in 1963, league investigators discovered that two of the sport’s biggest stars, Green Bay Packers running back Paul Hornung and Detroit Lions All-Pro tackle Alex Karras, had placed bets on NFL games. Investigators conducted fifty-two interviews with players on eight teams and determined the two football stars had either bet on their own teams to win or had placed bets on other NFL games. Neither Hornung nor Karras was guilty of taking bribes, point shaving, or game fixing, but the reputation of the emerging phenomenon called the National Football League took a major hit. Without seeking counsel from the team owners who had elected him and paid his handsome salary, Rozelle dropped the hammer on both players for gambling and associating with “known hoodlums.” He banned them indefinitely, sending shock waves around the league.

         Hornung was the NFL’s biggest attraction at the time. The “Golden Boy” had set an NFL scoring record with 176 points in 1960 and was awarded the NFL’s most valuable player trophy in 1961. Karras was the anchor of the Lions’ defense and an all-league selection three years running. Five other Lions players were fined for betting on the 1962 NFL championship game between the Packers and New York Giants. The Lions organization was also fined four thousand dollars for failure to adequately supervise its players. At the time, Rozelle called the decision the hardest of his life. What outraged the commissioner was Hornung’s and Karras’s flagrant disregard for league rules. Each player had been informed time and again of the league rule on gambling, and yet according to Rozelle, they had continued to gamble with no signs of slowing down. The commissioner considered banning each man for life. This would be the most severe penalty paid by a professional athlete since “Shoeless” Joe Jackson and seven Chicago White Sox teammates were handed lifetime bans from Major League Baseball for fixing the World Series in 1919. The Black Sox Scandal was one of the reasons Rozelle had his job as NFL commissioner. Major League Baseball had never had a commissioner before 1919, but the position was created in the wake of the scandal to police and control the players. Pete Rozelle decided that he would exact from Hornung and Karras “the most severe penalty short of banishment for life.”14 Both players were reinstated a year later.

         By 1981, Rozelle had weathered two players’ strikes and was locked in a heated battle with Al Davis, the renegade owner of the Oakland Raiders, who was hell-bent on moving his storied franchise from the Bay Area to Los Angeles.

         Goodell had called himself a great admirer of Rozelle. Unlike the commissioner, Roger was not a forward thinker, but he would grow to understand Rozelle’s philosophy of leadership: control equaled power.

         Roger absorbed what he could in his junior role with the league and was hungry to learn more. The following year, he landed an internship with the New York Jets’ public relations staff for the 1983 season. The Jets went 7–9 that year and finished at the bottom of the AFC East. Goodell, who had only played football in high school, was offered an entry-level job on the team’s coaching staff for the following season but decided to return to NFL headquarters instead.

         He stayed and never left.

         When Pete Rozelle retired in 1989, the league owners went outside league headquarters for the next commissioner and elected Washington, D.C., power lawyer Paul Tagliabue to take his place. Tagliabue was well known to the owners, having served as a lawyer for the NFL. He also was very aware of the giant shoes he had to fill. After all, his predecessor had been inducted into the NFL Hall of Fame in 1985 while he was still commissioner.

         Tagliabue’s leadership style was vastly different from that of Rozelle, whose dominant personality and innovative ideas made him larger than life. Still, though Tagliabue was seen as a kinder, gentler commissioner, he was also one who understood the value of growth. He expanded the league with new franchises in Jacksonville, Florida, and Charlotte, North Carolina, while also looking overseas for the opportunity to build new marketplaces for the NFL brand. Soon, a European developmental program, awkwardly called the World League of American Football, and later known as NFL Europe, whet the appetite of sports fans in Barcelona, Frankfurt, and London. The commissioner also understood the value of having a strong team around him. One of the league office’s brightest young stars was Roger Goodell. Tagliabue grew to trust the young executive and valued his judgment enough to appoint him as the go-between with Gene Upshaw, executive director of the NFL Players Association, during labor talks. Goodell was also chosen to lead the league’s negotiations with the city of Los Angeles in its quest to return to the NFL market after losing both the Rams franchise to St. Louis and the Raiders back to Oakland. Roger found himself front and center in just about every important league economic decision during the Tagliabue era. He had also found the mentor he had so desperately been searching for.

         “My advice to most people is just to be yourself and continue to be thoughtful,” the paternal Tagliabue once counseled.15

         Soon another father figure would enter Goodell’s life, a man who would groom Roger for power and prestige and one whom Goodell would ultimately attempt to destroy.
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